
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Richmond Division 
 
      ) 
DOROTHY FLOWERS,    ) 
NATALIE BROWN,    ) 
NATASHA BROWN,   ) 
CURLEY DICKENS, and   ) 
VELDA CROCKETT,   ) 
Individually and on behalf of  ) 
all persons similarly situated,  ) 
  Plaintiffs,   ) 
      ) 
  V.    ) Case No.:  
      ) 
HOPEWELL REDEVELOPMENT & ) 
HOUSING AUTHORITY,   ) 
      ) 
  Defendant.   ) 
      ) 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated, through their 

undersigned attorneys, bring this action against Defendants for damages, declaratory relief, and 

injunctive relief for violations of the United States Housing Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Virginia 

Consumer Protection Act, breach of the Annual Contributions Contract, and for breach of contract 

under Virginia law.  Plaintiffs allege that Defendant Hopewell Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority implemented an unlawful and arbitrary utility billing scheme that resulted in Plaintiffs 

and other tenants being unlawfully billed for electric and gas usage. These charges amounted to 

an unlawful rent increase contrary to Virginia and federal law and harmed low-income tenants by 

burdening them with undue rent obligations and unwarranted late fees.  

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury and allege as follows. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Approximately 1.3 million Americans live in public housing. They rely on Public 

Housing Agencies (PHAs), like Hopewell Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“HRHA”), to 

provide affordable accommodation that meets basic standards of habitability.  When PHAs are 

run effectively, they give residents dignity and the security of having a roof over their head.  But 

when they take advantage of low-income tenants and fail to abide by the law, PHAs undermine 

the goal of providing affordable housing and put families at risk of homelessness and destitution. 

2.    The United States Housing Act of 1937 (“Housing Act”), 42 U.S.C. § 1437 et seq., 

as amended, which is administered by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (“HUD”), prevents PHAs from discriminating against low-income tenants by 

limiting the amount that tenants must pay in rent and utilities.  PHAs, such as HRHA, may not 

charge tenants more than thirty percent (30%) of their monthly adjusted income for rent and 

reasonable utility consumption.   

3. The Housing Act directs PHAs to follow specific procedures to set, implement, and 

annually review an allowance sufficient to cover reasonable consumption of utilities (known as a 

“utility allowance”).  If tenants receive both gas and electric service, the PHA can establish 

separate utility allowances for each service. Because tenants must pay any amount charged that 

is not covered by the utility allowance (known as an “excess utility charge”), low-income tenants 

suffer if the allowances are set too low.   

4. Federal law also prohibits PHAs from charging late fees for non-rent amounts, and the 

law explicitly states that utility charges are not considered “rent.”   

5. HRHA is a PHA in Hopewell, Virginia, with approximately 360 units; its self-

described mission is to “promote adequate and affordable housing, economic opportunity and a 
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suitable living environment free from discrimination.”  Plaintiffs have filed this Complaint, 

however, because HRHA has not been living up to its own or federal standards.  

6. After failing to set new utility allowances for more than twenty years, which is itself a 

violation of federal law, HRHA promulgated utility allowances in 2014 that were inadequate to 

cover the cost of tenants’ reasonable energy usage, which resulted in unlawful, excessive charges 

to Plaintiffs and other similarly situated individuals, i.e., other tenants of HRHA.  HRHA’s 

failure to establish lawful utility allowances is a direct result of: (1) repeated procedural 

oversights, (2) HRHA’s failure to engage in reasoned decision-making in deciding to adopt the 

new utility allowance schedule, (3) HRHA’s reliance on a utility allowance study that failed to 

take account of the statutory factors required under the Housing Act, (4) a staff who, records 

show, prioritized saving money over complying with federal regulations, and (5) unreliable 

procedures for measuring actual utility consumption for meters owned by HRHA. 

7. Upon information and belief, since 2014 at least eighty percent (80%) of HRHA’s 

tenants have been assessed excess utility charges on a regular basis as a result of HRHA’s 

impermissibly low utility allowances. This is despite the fact that those tenants, and Plaintiffs in 

particular, have sought to minimize usage of their appliances in an effort to save money and 

decrease their utility usage.   

8. When tenants were unable to pay the unlawful excess utility charges, HRHA charged 

late fees and added those late fees to their rental balance, compounding tenants’ debts in 

violation of the Housing Act, which does not permit PHAs to charge utility surcharges as “rent” 

and then assess late charges for failure to pay such “rent.”   

9. Additionally, HRHA charged tenants for natural gas usage despite no provision in their 

lease permitting such charges.   
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10. These unlawful charges have caused hardship for Plaintiffs and the class of other 

similarly situated tenants and former tenants represented in this case.   

11. Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of all present and former HRHA residents 

who, since July 2014, have been subject to the unlawful utility surcharges.  

12. Plaintiffs ask the Court to declare that HRHA’s setting and implementation of utility 

allowances and excess utility consumption surcharges were arbitrary, capricious, and in violation 

of federal law.  Plaintiffs ask the Court to declare that HRHA’s charging of late fees as rent on 

overdue amounts that were not rent violated the Virginia Consumer Protection Act and the U.S. 

Housing Act.  Plaintiffs ask the Court to enjoin HRHA from classifying and charging excess 

utility charges or other overdue non-rent charges as rent. Plaintiffs further ask the Court to 

require HRHA to include notice that such late fees are not rent and failure to pay such charges 

does not allow for a termination for failure to pay rent in the Lease.  Plaintiffs ask the Court to 

require HRHA to promulgate and implement procedures for adjustments to utility allowances 

when the tenant demonstrates the higher usage is because a household member is disabled, 

elderly, or ill, or the usage is due to factors beyond the tenant’s control.  Plaintiffs ask the Court 

to include notice of the tenant’s electric and utility allowances and the administrative procedures 

to contest surcharges within the Lease.  Plaintiffs ask the Court to require HRHA to provide a 

refund of all illegally charged excess utility charges and late fees.  Finally, Plaintiffs ask the 

Court to certify this case as a class action to provide relief to all similarly situated individuals as 

defined herein.  

JURISDICTION 

13. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(a)(3) and 1337. This 

case arises under the Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1437 et seq., as amended, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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A private right of action exists under Wright v. Roanoke Redev. and Housing Auth., 479 U.S. 418 

(1987). 

14. Supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims asserted herein is conferred upon 

this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  The transactions and occurrences giving rise to the Plaintiffs’ 

state law claims arose out of the same common nucleus of operative facts as those giving rise to 

their federal law claims.  The state law claims asserted herein form part of the same case or 

controversy as the federal law claims. 

15. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c).  

PARTIES 

16. Plaintiff Dorothy Flowers is a public housing resident of an HRHA property and lives 

in Hopewell, Virginia. 

17. Plaintiff Natalie Brown is a former public housing resident of an HRHA property and 

lives in Hopewell, Virginia.  

18. Plaintiff Natasha Brown is a former public housing resident of an HRHA property 

and lives in Hopewell, Virginia. 

19. Plaintiff Curley Dickens is a public housing resident of an HRHA property and lives 

in Hopewell, Virginia. 

20. Plaintiff Velda Crockett is a public housing resident of an HRHA property and lives 

in Hopewell, Virginia. 

21. Defendant Hopewell Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“HRHA”) is a duly 

organized and recognized agency of the State of Virginia under the Code of Virginia, § 36-4 with 

the power to sue and be sued. The HRHA currently owns and operates approximately 360 units 

as public housing in the City of Hopewell in several different locations.   
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LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

22. The federal government, through HUD, subsidizes the annual cost of operating and 

managing PHAs.  The terms of public funding are enumerated in the Annual Contributions 

Contract (“ACC”) entered into annually between HUD and each PHA.   

23. In order to protect and benefit public housing residents, who are the intended 

beneficiaries of an ACC, PHAs must operate their housing units in accordance with the 

requirements of the Housing Act and applicable HUD regulations. 

24. PHAs must also comply with the Brooke Amendment to the Housing Act, which 

provides that, except in limited circumstances, the maximum rent that a PHA can charge its 

residents may not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the family’s monthly adjusted income. 42 

U.S.C. § 1437a(a)(1)(A).  As described in greater detail below, the thirty percent (30%) figure 

includes an allowance for the monthly cost of utilities.    

25. Other than rent, PHAs may bill tenants only for approved fees.  Only four non-rent 

charges are ordinarily permissible: 1) maintenance and repair beyond normal wear and tear, 2) 

consumption of excess utilities, 3) reasonable late fees, and 4) security deposits.  See 24 C.F.R. § 

966.4(b).    

Federal Law Governing Utility Allowances  

26. PHAs must establish utility allowances for all submetered utilities that are furnished 

to tenants.  See 24 CFR § 965.502.  The allowances must “approximate a reasonable 

consumption of utilities by an energy-conservative household of modest circumstances 

consistent with the requirements of a safe, sanitary, and healthful living environment.”  24 C.F.R. 

§ 965.505(a).  Utility allowances must cover the costs associated with reasonable consumption of 
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major equipment, utility functions, essential equipment, and minor items of equipment. 24 

C.F.R. § 965.505(b).   

27. In establishing the allowance rate, PHAs must consider at a minimum the following 

nine HUD-enumerated factors set forth in 24 C.F.R. § 965.505(d): 

a. the equipment and functions intended to be covered by the allowance;  

b. the climate of the location of the project;  

c. the size of the unit and the number of occupants per unit;  

d. the type of construction and design;  

e. the energy efficiency of the housing authority supplied appliances;  

f. the utility consumption requirements of the appliances and equipment whose 

reasonable consumption is intended to be covered by the tenant’s rent;  

g. the physical condition of the project;  

h. temperature levels intended to be maintained in the unit; and  

i. the temperature of hot water for domestic use.  

28.  PHAs are required to annually review the basis on which their utility allowances are 

established and revise allowances as necessary to ensure that they are reasonable. 24 C.F.R. § 

965.507. 

Guidelines for Establishing Utility Surcharges 

29. PHAs are also required to establish surcharges “for utility consumption in excess of 

the allowances.” 24 C.F.R. § 965.506(a).    

30. At least sixty (60) days prior to implementing excess utility surcharges, PHAs must 

give notice to all residents of the proposed utility allowances and surcharges. 24 C.F.R. § 

965.502(c).  The notice must describe “with reasonable particularity the basis for determination 
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of the allowances, scheduled surcharges, or revisions, including a statement of the specific items 

of equipment and function whose utility consumption requirements were included in determining 

the amounts of the allowances or scheduled surcharges.” 24 C.F.R. § 965.502(c). 

31. PHAs must issue such notice in compliance with any procedures included in tenants’ 

leases. 24 C.F.R. § 965.502(c). 

32. A PHA must also state “the basis for calculating such [excess utility] surcharges . . . 

in [its] schedule of allowances.” 24 C.F.R. § 965.506(a).  It is also required to “maintain a record 

that documents the basis on which allowances and scheduled surcharges” are established and to 

make the record available for inspection by residents.  24 C.F.R. § 965.502(b). 

33. Before implementing allowances and surcharges, a PHA must “provide all residents 

an opportunity to submit written comments during a period expiring not less than 30 days before 

the proposed effective date of the allowances or scheduled surcharges.” 24 C.F.R. § 965.502(c). 

These written comments must be retained by the PHA and be available for inspection by tenants. 

24 C.F.R. § 965.502(c).  

Provisions Related to Requesting Relief and Contesting Surcharges 

34. PHAs must adopt criteria and procedures for granting adjustments to a utility 

allowance for residents who are elderly, ill, or disabled; for those whose special needs require 

them to consume utilities in excess of the allowances; or for tenants with special factors affecting 

utility usage not within the control of the resident. 24 C.F.R. § 965.508. 

35. The criteria for granting relief must be adopted at the time the PHA adopts its 

methods and procedures for determining utility allowances and included in the notice to all 

residents of the proposed allowances and scheduled surcharges.  24 C.F.R. § 965.508.  The 
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notice must also identify the housing authority employee whom tenants may contact for relief 

and list the criteria for granting relief.  Id.  New residents must also be provided this notice. Id. 

36. When a tenant consumes utilities, either electric or gas, that exceed the amount 

covered by their utility allowance, a PHA can request payment of such excess utility charges 

only by issuing the tenant a written notice known as a “notice of adverse action.” 24 C.F.R. § 

966.4(b)(4).   

37. The notice must inform the tenant of the “specific grounds” for the imposition of the 

surcharge, 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(e)(8)(i), and advise the tenant of his or her right to request a 

grievance hearing. 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(e)(8)(ii)(A).  The PHA may not assess the tenant for the 

excess utility charge “until the time for a tenant to request a grievance hearing has expired, and 

(if a hearing was timely requested by the tenant) the grievance process has been completed.” 24 

C.F.R. § 966.4(e)(8)(ii)(B).   

Requirements of Admissions and Continued Occupancy Policy and Residential Lease 

38. Each PHA has an Admissions and Continued Occupancy Policy (“ACOP”) that 

governs administration of the PHA’s public housing program.   

39. Upon information and belief, HRHA’s ACOP provides that tenants who live in units 

where HRHA pays the utilities bill “will be charged for excess utilities.  This charge shall be 

applied as specified in the lease.” HRHA ACOP, Exhibit 1, p. 91.   

40. According to HRHA’s ACOP, the “[u]tility allowance amounts will vary by the rates 

in effect, size and type of unit, climatic location and sitting of the unit, type of construction, 

energy efficiency of the dwelling unit, and other factors related to the physical condition of the 

unit.  Utility allowance amounts will also vary by residential demographic characteristics 

affecting home energy usage.” Exhibit 1, p. 90.   
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41. HUD requires HRHA’s lease to contain a list of all utilities, services, and equipment 

supplied and paid for by HRHA, and a list of all utilities and appliances paid for by the tenant.  

24 C.F.R. § 966.4(a)(iv). Each lease must also state the utility allowance for that unit and the 

charge for usage in excess of the allowance. 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(b)(2).  

42. Upon information and belief, HRHA’s Dwelling Lease (“Lease”), Exhibit 2, p. 4, Part 

1, ¶ E, lists HRHA-supplied utilities, including Natural Gas, Water, and Sewerage, “as part of the 

Rent for the Unit.” 

43. Upon information and belief, Part 2, § 4 of the Lease, titled “Utilities,” addresses 

utilities and contains the following provisions: 

“Management agrees to furnish the following utilities as reasonably 
necessary: heat, hot and cold running water, and electricity for lighting 
and general household appliances.  No charge will be billed for providing 
these utilities unless Tenant’s consumption of ELECTRICITY exceeds 
during any monthly utility billing period the allowance in kilowatt hours 
(KWH) of ELECTRICITY posted at the Management Office.  Amounts 
billed for excess ELECTRICITY consumption shall be due and collectible 
on the first of the month following the notice of the charge, provided that 
Tenant has at least two weeks’ notice. HRHA may establish a system of 
utility sub metering, and/or other methods of calculating costs, for one of 
more of those utilities that are not currently billed to the Tenant for excess 
consumption.  HRHA reserves the right to adjust the utility charges, at any 
time, based on increased costs, consumption and/or utility rates, as is 
deemed necessary at its sole discretion . . .  
 
A PHA may change the utility allowance at any time during the term of 
the lease, and shall give the Tenant 60 day’s written notice of the revised 
allowance along with any resultant in changes in Tenant rent or utilities 
reimbursement. 
 
If the Tenants [sic] actual utility bill exceeds the Allowance for Utilities, 
the Tenant shall be responsible for paying the actual bill to the supplier.  If 
the Tenant’s actual utility bill is LESS than the Allowance for Utilities, the 
Tenant shall receive the benefit of such saving.” 
 

Exhibit 2, p. 7 
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44. HRHA’s lease does not state the utility allowance or surcharge amounts for gas or 

electric consumption, nor does it authorize HRHA to charge utility surcharges for excess 

consumption of gas.   

45. Part 2, § 7 of the Lease, titled “Obligations of Management,” requires HRHA to 

comply with all applicable building codes, housing codes, and HUD regulations.  Exhibit 2, pp. 

8-9. 

46. HRHA’s ACOP is incorporated into the Lease.  Exhibit 2, p. 20, Part 2, § 1 [sic]. 

47. HRHA’s ACOP requires HRHA to abide by all requirements by HUD, including 

regulations, Handbooks, and Notices, and all applicable federal, state, and local law.  Exhibit 1, 

p. 1. 

48. Thus, all requirements promulgated by HUD are also requirements of the Lease. 

49. Further, all requirements of Virginia law are requirements of the Lease. 

Virginia Law Governing Submetering of Utilities  

50. Virginia law also regulates what can be included in a lease for submetered utility 

usage and the process for charging tenants in accordance with utility usage.   

51. Virginia Code § 55-226.2 requires that submetering may be used by landlords only 

when “clearly” stated in the lease.  

52. Pursuant to Virginia Code § 56-245.3, the State Corporation Commission 

(“Commission”) promulgated regulations and standards for landlord submetering equipment 

which are available in Title 20, Chapter 305 of the Virginia Administrative Code.   

53. Among other requirements, 20VAC5-305-20 instructs landlords to “clearly” state in 

each lease:  

a. Whether the rental unit utilizes submetering equipment; and  
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b. Whether bills for electric or gas consumption will be based on readings from such 

equipment.  

54. If a landlord uses submetered equipment, they must secure an agreement from each 

tenant permitting the landlord to purchase electricity and gas, as applicable. By establishing a 

submetering practice, a landlord is bound by all terms and conditions related to submetering 

equipment prescribed by the State Corporation Commission. 20VAC5-305-30.  

55. 20VAC5-305-70 requires landlords using submeters to have a submeter testing 

program to ensure equipment accuracy.   

56. 20VAC5-305-90 sets forth minimum billing requirements for landlords who submeter 

utilities, including: 

a. Bills shall be calculated and rendered by the landlord no later than fifteen (15) 

days after receipt of the utility's bill; 

b. Submeters shall be read within three (3) business days of the scheduled reading 

date of the utility's master meter; 

c. Landlords shall render bills to the tenant in the same energy units as billed to the 

landlord by the utility; 

d. The tenant's bill shall show all of the following information: 

1. The dates and readings of the submeters at the beginning and end of the 

period for which the bill is rendered, and the billing date; 

2. The number of energy units consumed during the current billing period; 

3. The average cost in cents per energy unit used in computing the bill; 

4. The amount due for electricity or natural gas consumed, the balance 

forward, and the total amount due;  
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5. The name of the firm rendering the tenant's bill, the name or title, address, 

and telephone number of the person or persons where payment can be 

made, and also who to contact in the case of any questions or disputes 

concerning the bill; and 

6. A precise statement that the bill is not from the utility providing service to 

the apartment; and 

e. Bills must be mailed or delivered to the tenant's premises within three (3) business 

days after the billing date. 

57. Virginia Code § 55-226.2 authorizes a private right of action against a landlord who 

fails to comply with the terms specified in Va. Code §§ 55-226.2 or 56-245.3.   

Federal Law Prohibits Late Fees on Non-Rent Charges 

58. PHAs are permitted, but not required, to charge late fees, so long as such charges are 

authorized in the tenant’s lease.  24 CFR § 966.4(b)(3).  

59. The Public Housing Occupancy Guidebook,1 which is published by HUD, states that 

late charges and utility surcharges are not considered rent and that PHAs may not treat any such 

unpaid charges as unpaid rent.  See Chapter 17, §17.6, p. 193.  Nonetheless, upon information 

and belief, HRHA’s Lease defines rent broadly to all money owed to HRHA, thereby including 

utility surcharges, and states that tenants must pay a $25 late fee if it fails to pay rent by the 5th of 

each month.  Exhibit 2, p. 6, Part 2, “Rent,” § 2. 

 

 

                                                        
1 US Dept of Hous. and Urban Dev., Public Housing Occupancy Handbook (June 2003), 
https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/DOC_10760.PDF 
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FACTS 

HRHA Failed to Follow the Process for Establishing Utility Surcharges as Required by 
HUD Regulations 
 

60. HRHA established new utility allowances in 2014 (“2014 Allowances”) without 

following the procedures required by HUD.  As such, all utility charges since implementation of 

those allowances in July 2014 are unlawful. 

61. On April 16, 2014, HRHA sent out a notice proposing to implement new utility 

allowance rates.  April 16 Notice, Exhibit 3.  HRHA failed to comply with the federal 

requirements for the notice contents in the following ways: 

a. It failed to state the basis on which allowances and surcharges were established;  

b. It failed to describe with reasonable particularity the specific items of equipment 

that were included in establishing the allowances and surcharges; 

c. It failed to sufficiently describe the procedures for applying for a utility allowance 

adjustment and the specific criteria it would consider in granting utility allowance 

adjustments for elderly, disabled, or ill tenants, or for tenants with special factors 

affecting utility usage not within their control; and 

d. It failed to identify the housing authority employee to be contacted to request 

relief from utility surcharges. 

62. In addition to these deficiencies in the notice, HHRA also failed to comply with 

federal requirements in several other respects.   

63. HRHA failed to maintain a record that documented the basis on which allowances 

and surcharges were established, and by extension, did not inform tenants of where to find such 

documents. 
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64. It also failed to provide residents with a minimum of thirty (30) days to submit 

written comments on the proposed allowances and scheduled surcharges.  Despite telling 

residents in the April 16 letter that they would have until May 19, 2014, to submit comments, 

HRHA’s public housing director and executive director had already approved the new utility 

allowance schedule in a Decision Memorandum dated April 12, 2014, and HRHA’s Board of 

Commissioners approved the new utility allowance schedule fewer than thirty (30) days later on 

May 12, 2014.  April 12 Letter, Exhibit 4; Board Approval, Exhibit 5. 

65. HRHA’s rationale for approving the utility allowances was itself arbitrary and 

misguided. In the April 12 Letter to HRHA’s executive director recommending approval of the 

proposed utility allowances, HRHA’s public housing director explained that the allowances were 

calculated on the basis of a consumption study of utility usage at HRHA’s facilities. In fact, no 

consumption study of utility usage at HRHA had been performed. HRHA did commission an 

engineering study, which is a distinct type of study from a consumptions study, by a company 

named Nelrod (hereinafter, the “2014 Nelrod Study”), but HRHA’s public housing director made 

no reference to the 2014 Nelrod Study in her April 12 letter recommending approval of the 

proposed utility allowances.   

66. Given HRHA’s misunderstanding of this most basic fact – how its proposed utility 

allowances were derived – it cannot, as matter of law, have engaged in reasoned decision-making 

when adopting those allowances.  

67. But even if HRHA understood how its allowances were derived, the schedule of 

allowances it implemented in 2014 is itself deficient.  It does not even discuss surcharges, let 

alone the basis for calculating excess utility surcharges in its schedule of allowances. 
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68.  Moreover, and in direct contravention of the law, upon information and belief, 

HRHA defines “rent” to include all payments owed to HRHA, implicitly including late fees on 

utility surcharges and has assessed late fees to tenants for any delay in paying utility surcharge 

amounts.  See Exhibit 2, p. 6, Part 2, “Rent.” 

HRHA’s Utility Allowances Are Insufficient 

69. Furthermore, the electric and gas utility allowances established by HRHA in 2014 

were far below the amounts necessary for reasonable utility consumption by an energy-

conservative household of modest means consistent with the requirements of a safe, sanitary, and 

healthful living environment. 

70. HRHA’s utility allowances were unreasonably low, and HRHA’s reliance on the 

allowances to assess surcharges against tenants constituted an abuse of discretion. 

71. HRHA knew, or should have known, that its allowances were set too low.  In fact, a 

2014 Decision Memorandum recommending approval of the new utility allowances articulated 

that the “rationale” for the new utility allowances was so that HRHA “would receive positive 

financial gains.”  See Exhibit 4, p. 2.   

72. While there is no doubt that HRHA saw “positive financial gains,” the low-income 

tenants at HRHA properties did not.  A statistical analysis performed by Plaintiffs shows that 

between eighty three percent (83%) and eighty nine percent (89%) of HRHA’s tenants were 

charged excess utility charges each month through 2016 and that the average excess utility 

charge each month during that timeframe ranged from $30.52 at HRHA’s Davisville facility, to 

as high as $44.53 at Edward Bland Court.  Upon information and belief, HRHA tenants 

continued to be overcharged for utilities at similar rates through September 2018. 
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73. HRHA’s utility allowance for gas consumption, which was not provided for in the 

Lease, was notably erroneous. HRHA established a single rate for its gas utility allowance that 

applied during both summer and winter months, despite the fact that gas consumption varies 

wildly between July and December.   

74. HRHA calculated the utility allowance for gas consumption in part by averaging the 

expected monthly gas usage for each structure type and unit size for the entire year, rather than 

calculate an allowance that applied during the summer when gas usage is low and one that 

applied during the winter, when gas usage is high.  Nelrod Study, Exhibit 6, pp. 8-11.  For winter 

months, this gas utility allowance is far below the expected monthly utility consumption totals as 

calculated in HRHA’s own study and is insufficient to meet the requirements of safe, sanitary, 

and healthful living environment.   

75. An example is illustrative.  For a 2-bedroom unit in Davisville, the monthly utility 

consumption of natural gas is 18 therms during the summer months and 40 therms during the 

winter months.  But because HRHA averaged expected gas consumption in calculating its utility 

allowances, the utility allowance for each month of the year was 33 therms, far too low to cover 

expected monthly usage for winter months.  

76. HRHA also violated its ACOP and federal law by establishing its utility allowances 

for both gas and electric utilities without considering the factors listed on page 90 of the ACOP.  

Exhibit 1, p. 90.   

77. HRHA acted in violation of federal law when, upon information and belief, it relied 

on a generic study performed by The Nelrod Company to determine its 2014 utility allowance 

schedule. That study failed to adequately account for the nine factors listed in 24 C.F.R. § 

965.505(d), and, in particular, did not include data related to: the equipment and functions 
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intended to be covered by the allowance for which the utility will be used; the size of the 

dwelling units and the number of occupants per dwelling unit; the energy efficiency of PHA-

supplied appliances and equipment; or the physical condition, including insulation and 

weatherization, of the housing project. HRHA’s failure to supply Nelrod with “[d]etailed 

information on [its] buildings and their equipment,” and its subsequent reliance on Nelrod’s 

study was arbitrary and capricious.  Utility Allowance Guidebook2, p. 38.   

78. HRHA’s procedures frustrate tenants’ abilities to uncover the housing authority’s 

misdeeds. Upon information and belief, when billing tenants for utility surcharges, HRHA does 

not provide residents with the specific grounds for the utility surcharges, including the dates and 

reading of the submeters, the number of energy units consumed, or the cost per energy unit used 

to compute the utility surcharge. And when billing tenants for utility surcharges, HRHA 

periodically has failed to give the required two weeks’ notice to pay utility surcharges.  

HRHA’s Lack of Reliable Procedures to Collect Utility Usage Data 

79. Despite the requirements in 20VAC5-305-70, HRHA had no adequate testing 

program for its submetering equipment to ensure equipment accuracy during the time period of 

the 2014 Allowances.   

80. HRHA lacked a reliable procedure for measuring actual utility usage by tenants. 

81. Thomas Rolfe Court, Thomas Rolfe Extension, and Edward Bland Court are all 

connected to electric submeters owned and operated by HRHA.  These meters are all old, and 

some are in poor states of repair. 

                                                        
2 US Hous. and Urban Dev., Utility Allowance Guidebook (Sept. 1998), 
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2267/utility-allowance-guidebook/ 
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82. Upon information and belief, HRHA owns all of its gas submeters, which are also 

old, and some are in poor states of repair. 

83. During the time period the 2014 Allowances were in place, the meters for these 

properties were read at the end of every month by HRHA employees (“meter readers”).  The 

meter readers noted the meter reading by hand and provided their handwritten notes to HRHA’s 

accountants, who then manually transcribed the numbers. 

84. HRHA did not provide its meter readers with a list of the prior month’s readings.  

Thus, HRHA’s meter readers had no point of comparison for the current month’s readings and 

no procedure for identifying an anomalous reading resulting from faulty equipment. In fact, 

meter readers had no way of knowing whether a given meter was broken—and therefore had the 

same meter reading every month—or whether the meter was an accurate reflection of a tenant’s 

utility usage. 

85. HRHA had no procedure for confirming that the hand-noted meter readings were 

recorded correctly. 

86. HRHA had no procedure for confirming that its accountants had accurately 

transcribed the meter readers’ notes before utility statements went out to the tenants. 

87. Without any measures in place to ensure the accuracy of its utility billing for the three 

properties in question, HRHA would be hard pressed to prove that any surcharges were ever 

owed by the residents of those properties, and in fact could not assess the surcharges under 

Virginia state law. 

88. Because HRHA never properly implemented the allowance and surcharge process, no 

surcharges should have been charged between July 2014 and September 2018. 
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HRHA’s Lack of an Adequate Process for Residents to Request Relief from Excess 
Surcharges 
 

89. HRHA failed to adopt sufficient criteria and procedures for granting adjustments to 

the utility allowances for elderly, disabled, or ill, or for tenants with special factors affecting 

utility usage not within tenants’ control. 

90. Upon information and belief, under HRHA’s ACOP, tenants can only request relief 

from surcharges if they result in a “hardship,” which is limited to circumstances in which a 

tenant cannot pay their bills.  Exhibit 1, p. 20.   

91. Furthermore, upon information and belief, disabled tenants can only obtain relief if 

their hardship arises as a result of additional, energy-consuming apparatuses necessary to treat 

their disability.  At most, relief is limited to “no more than the difference of the usage of the 

reasonable cost of a reasonable increased consumption level for the additional required apparatus 

used to address the need.”  Id. at 91. 

92. Upon information and belief, HRHA also does not notify new residents upon 

admission of the availability and process to request relief from utility surcharges as required by 

24 C.F.R. § 965.508. 

93. By limiting relief to such a narrow set of circumstances and failing to inform new 

residents of the availability of relief, HRHA impermissibly discriminates against disabled 

tenants.  

Defendant HRHA’s Residential Lease 

94. Upon information and belief, HRHA’s Lease is deficient in a number of ways; the 

Lease fails to: 

a. State the allowance used for the determination of electric and gas utility 

surcharges;  
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b. Include the surcharge amount for utility consumption in excess of the electric and 

gas allowances; and 

c. Authorize HRHA to charge tenants excess utility consumption surcharges for gas. 

95. Further, instead of setting forth with particularity the utility allowance and surcharge 

for each unit in each Lease, upon information and belief, the Lease states that “HRHA reserves 

the right to adjust the utility charges, at any time, based on increased costs, consumption and/or 

utility rates, as is deemed necessary at its sole discretion.” Exhibit 2, p. 7, Part 2, § 4. 

96. Upon information and belief, HRHA’s Lease does not state the basis for 

determination of charges for consumption of excess utilities as required by 24 C.F.R. § 

966.4(b)(2). 

97. Upon information and belief, the Lease, Part 2, § 4, wrongly requires tenants to pay 

utility bills to the supplier, not to HRHA.  Exhibit 2, p. 7. 

98. Upon information and belief, the Lease fails to list the criteria and procedures for 

granting adjustments to the utility allowance. 

99. Upon information and belief, because Part 1, § E, of the Lease lists natural gas 

provided by HRHA “as part of the Rent for the Unit,” HRHA’s assessment of excess utility 

surcharges for the consumption of natural gas violates the Lease and federal regulations. 24 

C.F.R. § 966.4(a); Exhibit 2, p. 5. 

100. Upon information and belief, Part 2, § 4, of the Lease purports to govern utility 

allowances and excess consumption surcharges for submetered units, but it fails to state the 

allowance and the basis for determining surcharges, as required by federal regulations. 24 C.F.R. 

§ 966.4(b)(2); Exhibit 2, p. 7. 
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101. In violation of Va. Code § 55-226.2, 20VAC5-305-20, and 20VAC5-305-30, HRHA 

has repeatedly failed to secure from its tenants an agreement for the purchase of electricity or 

gas, failed to clearly state in its Lease that submetering equipment is used, and failed to clearly 

state in the Lease that charges for consumption will be based on the readings of its equipment. 

102. Lastly, upon information and belief, HRHA charges a late fee when utility 

surcharges are not paid on time, even though the Lease limits late fees to non-payment of rent.  

Individual Plaintiff Facts 

Plaintiff Dorothy Flowers  

103. Dorothy Flowers lives in Defendant HRHA’s Thomas Rolfe Court.  

104. Ms. Flowers has been charged excess utility charges since July 1, 2014.  

105. Ms. Flowers is often charged more than $20.00 a month in excess utility surcharges.   

106. Payment of the excess utility surcharges makes it difficult for her to pay her other 

bills and meet her monthly needs.  

107. Ms. Flowers has tried to conserve energy within her home by limiting her use of 

appliances.     

108. Ms. Flowers has repeatedly requested that HRHA explain to her the basis for the 

setting of her utility allowance, but HRHA has failed to provide her with this information. 

109. Ms. Flowers has even filed grievances requesting information about the basis for the 

setting of her utility allowance but has never received the information requested.  

Plaintiff Natasha Brown 

110.  Natasha Brown formerly lived in Defendant HRHA’s Thomas Rolfe Court with her 

child.  
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111. During her tenancy, Ms. Brown was charged excess utility charges after July 1, 

2014.   

112. The excess utility surcharges Ms. Brown was billed often ranged from 

approximately $40.00 to $100.00. 

113. Payment of the excess utility surcharges made it difficult for her to pay her other 

bills and meet her monthly needs.  

114. Ms. Brown contacted HRHA several times to request an explanation of the basis for 

the excess utility surcharges.  Her messages were taken by HRHA, but she never received a 

response by phone or in writing.  

115. Ms. Brown filed a complaint in writing with Defendant HRHA concerning excess 

utility surcharges.  No one responded to her complaint.   

Plaintiff Natalie Brown 

116.  Natalie Brown formerly lived in Defendant HRHA’s Thomas Rolfe Court with her 

three children. Two of Ms. Brown’s children are disabled.  

117. Ms. Brown’s youngest child suffers from asthma and requires the use of a nebulizer.   

118. Ms. Brown’s youngest child also uses a humidifier in the winter.  

119. During her tenancy, Ms. Brown was charged excess utility charges after July 1, 

2014.  

120. One month she was charged nearly $100 in excess utility surcharges; other months 

she was charged nearly $50 in excess utility surcharges.  

121. Payment of the excess utility surcharges made it difficult for her to pay her other 

bills and meet her monthly needs.  
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122. The assessment of excess utility surcharges made it hard for her to care for her 

family financially.   

123. Ms. Brown practiced energy conservation by unplugging electrical items when she 

was not using them, using energy saving appliances and electrical items, washing clothes only at 

night, and restricting her use of air conditioning.   

124. Ms. Brown had two window air conditioner units, but she was afraid to use both of 

them. She and her children often slept in the same room to conserve energy.   

125. On more than once occasion, HRHA failed to notify Ms. Brown of the amount due 

for excess utility surcharges at least two weeks before the due date.   

126. Ms. Brown contacted HRHA multiple times to request an explanation of the basis 

for the excess utility surcharges.  On some occasions, her message was taken by HRHA staff.  

On other occasions, she left a voicemail message for HRHA staff.  Despite her concerns, she did 

not get a response from HRHA by phone or in writing.  

127. In late 2016, Ms. Brown contacted HRHA concerning several of her high excess 

utility surcharge bills.  

128. HRHA staff agreed to reduce one of the charges but failed to do so.  When Ms. 

Brown later inquired about the reduction, HRHA told her that it had no record of her request.   

Plaintiff Curley Dickens 

129. Curley Dickens lives in Defendant HRHA’s Thomas Rolfe Court.  

130. Ms. Dickens is disabled, and she spends most of her time at home.  Among other 

things, Ms. Dickens suffered a stroke that impairs her mobility.  

131. Ms. Dickens has been charged for excess utility usage since July 1, 2014.   
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132. Ms. Dickens tries to limit her electric and gas usage to try to avoid high excess 

utility surcharges.  

133. Despite her efforts, her excess utility surcharges often exceed $40.00 a month.   

134. Payment of the excess utility surcharges makes it difficult for her to pay her other 

bills and meet her monthly needs.  

135. Ms. Dickens went to HRHA’s property management office several times to 

complain about her high excess utility surcharge bills.  She told HRHA that she could not afford 

to pay the charges using her social security income.  No one ever responded to her complaints.   

Plaintiff Velda Crockett 

136. Velda Crockett lives in Defendant HRHA’s Thomas Rolfe Court.  

137. Ms. Crockett has been charged excess utility charges since July 1, 2014.  

138. The excess utility surcharges often range monthly from approximately $40.00 to 

$100.00. 

139. Payment of the excess utility surcharges makes it difficult for her to pay her other 

bills and meet her monthly needs.  

140. Ms. Crockett has a window air conditioner, but she tries not to use it to save money. 

She limits her use of lighting in the apartment.  Ms. Crockett does have a small freezer, but she 

has very few electronics or other appliances.   

141. On multiple occasions, Ms. Crockett contacted HRHA to complain about the high 

excess utility surcharges and inquire about the basis for the surcharges.  No HRHA staff person 

responded to her concerns.  

142. On one occasion, Ms. Crockett went to HRHA with her mother to discuss the high 

excess utility surcharges.  She asked HRHA to reduce the amount she was charged.  She 
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explained she could not afford the high excess utility surcharges. HRHA did not reduce the 

amount due.    

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

143. The individual Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) and (3) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

144. Plaintiffs represent two sub-classes of present and former public housing residents 

with significant overlap between the classes: 

a. Plaintiffs represent a class of present and former HRHA public housing residents 

who were subject to utility allowances and excess utility consumption surcharges 

that were implemented beginning July 2014 through September 2018. 

b. Plaintiffs represent a class of present and former HRHA public housing residents 

who were subject to Lease provisions defining late fees as rent beginning July 

2014 through the present. 

145. For each sub-class, utility surcharges or late fees were improperly assessed and 

caused residents to pay more than thirty percent (30%) of their monthly adjusted incomes as rent. 

146. The number of individuals in each sub-class exceeds 300 individuals.  

147. The relatively small size of individual claims, the geographical dispersion of the 

class, and the financial circumstances of the class members make the maintenance of separate 

actions by each class member economically infeasible.  The class is so numerous that joinder of 

all members is impracticable.   

148. Questions of law and fact common to the first sub-class include: 

a. Whether HRHA’s utility allowances and excess utility consumption surcharges 

were set and implemented in accordance with federal law; and 
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b. Whether HRHA’s failure to properly set and implement utility allowances and 

excess utility consumption surcharges resulted in residents being charged more 

than thirty percent (30%) of their monthly adjusted income for rent. 

149. Questions of law and fact common to the second sub-class include: 

a. Whether HRHA improperly considered late fees as rent and/or charged late fees 

on overdue amounts that were not rent; and 

b. Whether HRHA’s consideration of late fees as rent and/or charging of late fees on 

overdue amounts that were not rent resulted in residents being charged more than 

thirty percent (30%) of their monthly adjusted income for rent. 

150. The claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class.  

151. The named Plaintiffs have the same interests as the other members of the class and 

will vigorously prosecute these interests on behalf of the class. 

152. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class.   

153. Plaintiffs know of no conflicts of interest among members of the class.  

154. Plaintiffs are represented by attorneys who are experienced litigators who have 

handled numerous actions in the federal court and will adequately represent the interests of the 

entire class.  

155. A class action is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(2) because Defendant HRHA has 

acted on grounds generally applicable to the class by failing and refusing to set and implement 

utility allowances and excess utility consumption surcharges and by improperly charging late 

fees such that injunctive and declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole is appropriate.  

156. A class action is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(3) because the questions of law or 

fact common to class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual 
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members, and a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently 

adjudicating the controversy.  

COUNT I - VIOLATION OF THE U.S. HOUSING ACT 

157. Paragraphs 1 through 156 are re-alleged and incorporated herein.   

158. HRHA’s actions were arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion or otherwise 

not in accordance with the law in so far as HRHA 1) improperly set and implemented utility 

allowances and surcharges, 2) failed to engage in reasoned decision-making in adopting new 

utility allowances, 3) implemented insufficient utility allowances, excessive utility surcharges, 

and late fees on non-rent charges, and 4) used unreliable means to collect utility usage data from 

its submeters for some of its properties. HRHA deprived Plaintiffs and the class of the benefits of 

HRHA’s public housing program and assessed surcharge fees when it had no right to do so. 

159. Such acts violate the United States Housing Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 1437 et 

seq., and its implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. §§ 965.501-8. 

160. HRHA’s actions in imposing unreasonable late fees against residents and treating all 

utility fees and late fees as rent violate the Housing Act implemented through regulations 

promulgated by HUD, and the Public Housing Occupancy Guidebook at Sections 17.3 and 17.6. 

161. HRHA’s violation of the Plaintiffs’ rights under the Housing Act is actionable under 

42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

162. As a result of Defendant’s violations of the Housing Act in charging tenants more 

rent than is allowed under federal law, Plaintiffs and the class they seek to represent have 

suffered harm and are entitled to declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief. 

COUNT II: BREACH OF CONTRACT UNDER VIRGINIA STATE LAW 

163.  Paragraphs 1 through 156 are re-alleged and incorporated herein. 
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164. The Lease is a contract between HRHA and class members and HRHA breached the 

lease when it failed to comply with both federal law, including the federal regulations, and state 

law. 

165. The ACOP requires HRHA to comply with the requirements of HUD, including 

“any HUD regulations, handbooks, and applicable notices.”  Exhibit 1, p. 1. 

166. Thus, all requirements promulgated by HUD are also requirements of the Lease. 

167. The ACOP provides that “all applicable…State laws also apply.”  Exhibit 1, p. 1. 

168. Thus, all requirements of Virginia law are requirements of the Lease. 

169. HRHA has breached the Lease by assessing charges not set forth in the Lease. 24 

C.F.R. §966.4(b)(2). 

170. The Lease fails to provide for the assessment of utility surcharges because it does 

not state the utility allowance amount, describe the basis for determination of charges for 

consumption of excess utilities, or list the amounts charged for usage in excess of the allowance.  

171. The Lease further wholly fails to authorize the collection of surcharges for excess 

gas consumption.   

172. HRHA has breached the Lease by assessing charges not authorized under Va. Code 

§§ 55-226.2, 56-245.1, 20VAC5-305-90, and 20VAC5-305-70. 

173. HRHA breached the Lease when it collected surcharges despite having failed to 

implement a testing program to ensure submetering equipment accuracy.  20VAC5-305-70.   

174. HRHA breached the Lease when it failed to maintain properly functioning 

submeters.  Va. Code § 56-245.1. 

175. HRHA breached the Lease when it charged tenants for usage recorded from 

defective meters.  Va. Code § 56-245.1. 
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176. HRHA breached the Lease when it collected surcharges despite having failed to 

secure from its tenants an agreement for the purchase of gas.  Va. Code § 55-226.2.   

177. HRHA breached the Lease when it collected surcharges despite having failed to 

clearly state in its Lease that submetering equipment was used or that charges for consumption 

would be based on the readings of its equipment.  Va. Code § 55-226.2.   

178. HRHA breached the Lease when it improperly issued deficient bills for surcharges.  

24 C.F.R. §§ 966.4(b) and (e); 20VAC5-305-90. 

179. HRHA breached the Lease when it imposed late fees for non-payment of utility 

surcharges.  24 C.F.R. § 966.4(b).      

180. As a result, Plaintiffs and the class they represent have suffered damages and they 

are entitled to declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief. 

COUNT III: VIOLATION OF THE ANNUAL CONTRIBUTIONS CONTRACT (ACC) 

181.   Paragraphs 1 through 156 are re-alleged and incorporated herein. 

182.  As third-party beneficiaries of the ACC, Plaintiffs and the class they seek to 

represent are entitled to seek the benefits of that contract. 

183. That contract required HRHA to comply with the HUD regulations and the 

Guidebooks regarding utility surcharges and late fees. 

184. HRHA has breached that obligation by not complying with the HUD regulations and 

Guidebooks regarding utility surcharges and late fees. 

185.  As a result, Plaintiffs and the class they represent have suffered damages and they 

are entitled to declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief. 

COUNT IV: VIOLATION OF THE FAIR HOUSING ACT 

186. Paragraphs 1 through 156 are re-alleged and incorporated herein.  
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187. Defendant’s acts of restricting disabled tenants from requesting higher allowances as 

a reasonable accommodation of their disability and of limiting a disabled tenant’s ability to 

request relief to “hardship” situations created by required additional apparatuses constitute 

violations of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B).  

188. As a result, Plaintiffs and the class they represent have suffered damages and they 

are entitled to declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief. 

COUNT V:  VIOLATION OF THE VIRGINIA CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

189. Paragraphs 1 through 156 are re-alleged and incorporated herein.  

190. Defendant is a supplier, and the lease between Plaintiffs and Defendant is a 

consumer transaction, as defined in Va. Code § 59.1-198.   

191. Defendant represented to Plaintiffs, as well as other tenants similarly situated, that 

Plaintiffs were required to pay utility surcharges, and that they owed late fees as a form of rent. 

192. Defendant attempted to charge and collect these excess and improper fees.   

193. Defendant’s acts in representing that fees were owed, and in charging and collecting 

fees constitute a violation of Va. Code § 59.1-200(13) and (14). 

194. Each attempt to charge or collect an unreasonable late fee or noncompliance fee is a 

separate prohibited act under Va. Code § 59.1-200. 

195. Such actions were not the result of a bona fide error. 

196. Such actions were negligent. 

197. In the alternative, such actions were willful so as to allow for treble actual damages, 

or a minimum of $1,000.00 per violation. 

198. As a result, Plaintiffs and the class they represent have suffered damages and they 

are entitled to monetary relief. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs pray that this Court will: 

1. Assume jurisdiction of this case; 

2. Certify the identified classes pursuant to F.R.C.P. 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3); 

3. Issue a declaratory judgment that: 

a. HRHA violated the United States Housing Act of 1937, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the 

lease provisions which Plaintiffs and the class were required to sign, and the 

Annual Contributions Contract which the HRHA enters into with HUD by its 

failure to improperly set and administer utility allowances; 

b. HRHA violated the Virginia Consumer Protection Act and the U.S. Housing Act 

by charging late fees as rent or on overdue amounts that were not rent; 

4. Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining HRHA from failing to comply 

with the U.S. Housing Act, the residential lease, and the Annual Contributions Contract, by 

requiring HRHA to: 

a. Promulgate and implement procedures to adjust electric and gas utility allowances 

when a tenant demonstrates that a higher allowance is needed because a member 

of the household is disabled, elderly or ill, or that the higher usage is due to factors 

beyond the tenant’s control; 

b. Include in notice of the tenants’ electric and gas utility allowances the Lease;  

c. Include administrative procedures to contest utility surcharges in the Lease;  

d. Include notice that late fees and utility surcharges are not considered rent and that 

failure to pay such charges does not allow for lease termination for lack of rent 

payment in the Lease; 
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5. Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining HRHA from failing to comply 

with the U.S. Housing Act, the residential Lease, and the Annual Contributions Contract by 

prohibiting HRHA from: 

a. Assessing late fees against tenants for failure to pay utility surcharges; and  

b. Terminating tenants’ leases for failure to pay rent based on failure to pay late fees 

on unpaid utility surcharges; 

6. Require HRHA to reimburse Plaintiffs and class members for all utility surcharges 

imposed and collected and all late fees improperly imposed and collected because these charges 

violated federal and state law;  

7. Award Plaintiffs and class members $1,000.00 or treble actual damages for each 

violation of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act; 

8. Award the Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys’ fees; 

9. Award prejudgment interest on the monetary relief provided to Plaintiffs and the 

members of the classes; and  

10. Grant the Plaintiffs such other relief as may be just and equitable. 

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED ON ALL MATTERS SO TRIABLE. 

Dated: ___________, 2019 

       

Respectfully submitted, 

DOROTHY FLOWERS 
NATALIE BROWN 
NATASHA BROWN 
CURLEY DICKENS 
VELDA CROCKETT 
By counsel:
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_/s/_________________ 
   Rachel C. McFarland, VSB #89391 
   rmcfarland@justice4all.org  

Brenda Castañeda, VSB #72809 
brenda@justice4all.org  
Sylvia Cosby Jones, VSB #35870 
sylvia@justice4all.org 
Mary DeVries, VSB #88186  

   maryd@justice4all.org  
   Caroline Klosko, VSB #78699 
   carrie@justice4all.org  
   LEGAL AID JUSTICE CENTER 

123 East Broad Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 
804-643-1086 Phone 
804-643-2059 Fax 
 
Larry F. Eisenstat, pro hac vice pending 
LEisenstat@crowell.com 
Tyler O’Connor, pro hac vice pending 
Toconnor@crowell.com  
CROWELL & MORING LLP 
1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, DC 20004 
202-624-2600 Phone 
202-628-5116 Fax 
 
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS  
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